
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

_________________________________________ 
 
XIAOXING XI, et al.,  
                                                          
                                                Plaintiffs, 
 
                              v. 
 
FBI SPECIAL AGENT ANDREW HAUGEN, et 
al.,  
 
 
                                                Defendants. 
_________________________________________ 
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CIVIL ACTION 
       
No. 17-cv-2132 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
NOTICE OF SUPPLEMENTAL AUTHORITY 

 
 In further support of their Opposition to Defendant Haugen’s Motion to Dismiss the 

Complaint (ECF No. 41) and their Opposition to the Official Capacity Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss the Complaint (ECF No. 42), Plaintiffs Xiaoxing Xi, Qi Li, and Joyce Xi (“Plaintiffs”) 

respectfully refer the Court to the report published by the Department of Justice Office of the 

Inspector General titled, Review of Four FISA Applications and Other Aspects of the FBI’s 

Crossfire Hurricane Investigation (Dec. 2019) (“Inspector General Report”), 

https://www.justice.gov/storage/120919-examination.pdf (Executive Summary attached).  

As Plaintiffs have explained, the amended complaint plausibly alleges that they were 

subjected to intrusive FISA searches on the basis of materially false, misleading, or fabricated 

allegations. See Pls.’ Opp. to Gov’t Officials’ MTD 17-19; Pls.’ Opp. to Haugen MTD 28-35. 

The Inspector General Report catalogs repeated misrepresentations in the government’s FISA 
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applications, and, therefore, provides additional support for the plausibility of Plaintiffs’ 

allegations.1  

On December 9, 2019, the DOJ Inspector General released a report examining the FBI’s 

surveillance of former Trump campaign adviser Carter Page under FISA. The report’s 

conclusions were disturbing. The Inspector General identified seventeen separate problems with 

the FBI’s applications to the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Court (“FISC”)—including 

misrepresentations, factual inaccuracies, and omissions. See Inspector General Report at viii–xii. 

For example, after in-depth investigation, the Inspector General found that the FBI had omitted 

potentially exculpatory statements by Page, and had failed to confirm the reliability of a key 

confidential source with his FBI handler. See id. at viii–ix, x. Even as the FBI became aware of 

information contradicting its original claims, government attorneys failed to update and correct 

inaccuracies when they sought renewal orders from the FISC. See id. at xi–xii.  

The misrepresentations documented in the Inspector General Report were indisputably 

material. See Order, In re Carter W. Page, a U.S. Person, No. 16-1182 (FISC Jan. 7, 2020), 

https://bit.ly/371WxHy. As the Department of Justice itself has conceded, the errors and 

omissions went to the heart of the government’s applications, undercutting its claims that there 

was probable cause to intercept Page’s communications. See id. at 1. Moreover, nothing 

suggests that the Page applications were unique in their defects. If anything, it is natural to 

expect FBI and DOJ officials to have exercised special care to ensure that the Page applications 

                                                 
1 The Court may take judicial notice of the Inspector General Report. See Fed. R. Evid. 

201(b). The Department of Justice has confirmed the report’s findings in submissions to the 
FISC, and the FISC has accepted and relied on those findings. See Order, In re Carter W. Page, 
a U.S. Person, No. 16-1182 (FISC Jan. 7, 2020), https://bit.ly/371WxHy. 
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were scrupulously accurate, given that the surveillance of a former campaign official was likely 

to draw intense scrutiny. See id. at xiv.2 

Following these revelations, many—including the FISC—have expressed pointed 

concern that the misrepresentations and omissions in the Page applications are part of a larger, 

systemic pattern. “The frequency with which representations made by FBI personnel turned out 

to be unsupported or contradicted by information in their possession, and with which they 

withheld information detrimental to their case, calls into question whether information contained 

in other FBI applications is reliable.” Order at 3, In re Accuracy Concerns Regarding FBI 

Matters Submitted to the FISC, No. Misc. 19-02 (FISC Dec. 17, 2019) 

, http://bit.ly/2sRChus. Echoing this concern, the Inspector General has announced that his 

Office is conducting a wide-ranging audit of FISA applications to “assess the FBI’s compliance 

with Department and FBI FISA-related policies” that are supposed to protect the civil liberties of 

U.S. persons. Inspector General Report at xiv. 

  

                                                 
2 This is not the first time that grave problems have emerged with the government’s FISA 

applications. In September 2000, the FISC disclosed that the government had acknowledged 
errors “in some 75 FISA applications.” In re All Matters Submitted to the FISC, 218 F. Supp. 2d. 
613, 620 (FISC 2002). There, too, the errors related to repeated “misstatements and omissions of 
material facts” in the FBI affidavits submitted to establish probable cause. Id. at 620. 
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Plaintiffs allege that the government’s FISA searches of their private lives relied on a 

similar set of materially false, misleading, and fabricated claims. Second Am. Compl. ¶¶ 54–57, 

59, 67 (ECF No. 24-1). The misrepresentations revealed by the Inspector General Report support 

the plausibility of the detailed allegations in the amended complaint. See id. 

 

       Respectfully submitted, 
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Office of the Inspector General 
U.S. Department of Justice 

OVERSIGHT     INTEGRITY     GUIDANCE

Review of Four FISA Applications and 
Other Aspects of the FBI’s Crossfire 

Hurricane Investigation 

REDACTED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE 

REDACTED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE 

Oversight and Review Division 20-012      December 2019 (Revised) 
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NOTICE 
 
 

This report was originally issued on December 9, 2019.  The report was updated on 
December 11 and December 20, 2019, with the following changes (page references are to 
the public version of the report): 
 

 On pages iv, xvi, 400, and 407, we changed the phrase “before and after” to “both 
during and after the time.”  In all instances, the phrase appears in connection to the 
time period during which we found that the Crossfire Hurricane team used 
Confidential Human Sources (CHSs) to interact and consensually record 
conversations with Page and Papadopoulos.  The corrected information appearing in 
this updated report reflects the accurate information concerning these time periods 
that previously appeared, and still appears, on pages 305 and 313 (e.g., the 
statement on page 305 that “the Crossfire Hurricane team tasked CHSs to interact 
with Page and Papadopoulos both during the time Page and Papadopoulos were 
advisors to the Trump campaign, and after Page and Papadopoulos were no longer 
affiliated with the Trump campaign”). 
 

 On pages ix, 164, 165, 214, and 364 we removed redactions of certain information 
related to Person 1.  We also removed redactions throughout the report related to 
the dates the Carter Page FISA applications were filed and the dates FISA authority 
expired for each application.  These changes to previously-redacted text were made 
in response to subsequent decisions made by the Department of Justice and the FBI 
about the classification of the underlying information.  See page 14, footnote 24.  
 

 On pages xi, 242, 368, and 370, we changed the phrase “had no discussion” to “did 
not recall any discussion or mention.”  On page 242, we also changed the phrase 
“made no mention at all of” to “did not recall any discussion or mention of.”  On page 
370, we also changed the word “assertion” to “statement,” and the words “and 
Person 1 had no discussion at all regarding WikiLeaks directly contradicted” to “did 
not recall any discussion or mention of WikiLeaks during the telephone call was 
inconsistent with.”  In all instances, this phrase appears in connection with 
statements that Steele’s Primary Sub-source made to the FBI during a January 2017 
interview about information he provided to Steele that appeared in Steele’s election 
reports.  The corrected information appearing in this updated report reflects the 
accurate characterization of the Primary Sub-source’s account to the FBI that 
previously appeared, and still appears, on page 191, stating that “[the Primary Sub-
Source] did not recall any discussion or mention of Wiki[L]eaks.” 
 

 On page 57, we added the specific provision of the United States Code where the 
Foreign Agents Registration Act (FARA) is codified, and revised a footnote in order to 
reference prior OIG work examining the Department’s enforcement and 
administration of FARA.  
 

 On page 413, we changed the word, “three” to “second and third.”  The corrected 
information appearing in this updated report reflects the accurate description of the 
Carter Page FISA applications that did not contain the information the FBI obtained 
from Steele’s Primary Sub-source in January 2017 that raised significant questions 
about the reliability of the Steele reporting.  This information previously appeared, 
and still appears, accurately on pages xi, xiii, 368, and 372. 
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Execut ive Summa ry 
Review of Four FISA Applications and Other Aspects of the FBI's Crossfire 

Hurricane In vestigation 

Backg rou nd 

The Depa rtment of J u stice ( Depa rtm ent)  Offi ce 
of the Inspector Genera l  ( OIG) u n d e rtoo k  th is revi ew to 
exa m ine  certa i n  act ions  by the Federa l  Bureau  of 
Invest igati o n  (FBI )  a nd the De pa rtment d u ring  a n  FBI 
i nvest i gati o n  o pened on J u l y  3 1 ,  20 1 6, known as 
"Crossfi re H u rrica n e, " i nto whether i nd iv i d u a l s  
associ ated with t h e  Dona ld  J .  Tru m p  fo r  Pres id e nt 
Ca m pa ign  were coo rd i nat i n g ,  witt i ng l y  o r  u nwitti n g ly ,  
with the Russ ian  govern m e nt's efforts to i nte rfere in  the 
20 1 6  U . S .  pres i d e ntia l  e lect ion . Our  rev iew inc l u d ed 
exa m i n i ng : 

• The dec is ion to o pen Crossfi re H u rri ca n e  a nd four
i n d iv i dua l  cases on cu rrent and fo rm e r  mem bers
of the Tru m p  ca m pa i g n ,  Georg e  Pa pado pou los,
Carter Page ,  Pa u l  Ma n afort, a nd M i chael  Flyn n ;
the ea rl y i nvesti g ative steps taken ; and  whether
the open ings and  ea rly steps com p l i ed  w i th
Department and  FBI  pol icies ;

• The FBI's re l at i onsh i p  w i th  Ch r istopher Stee l e ,
whom the  FBI  co ns idered to  be  a co nfident ia l
human sou rce (CH S ) ; i ts rece i pt, use,  a nd
eva l u ati o n  of e l ect i on  reports fro m Stee l e ;  and  its
deci s i on  to c lose Steele as a n  FBI CH S ;

• Fou r  FBI a p p l i cati ons  fi l ed  with the Foreig n
Inte l l i ge nce Surve i l la nce Co u rt  ( FISC) i n  20 1 6  a n d
20 1 7  to co nduct Foreig n I ntel l i ge nce S u rv e i l l a nce
Act ( FISA) surve i l l a nce targ eti ng Ca rte r Page ;  and
w hether  these app l ications co mp l ied with
Department  and  FBI po l i c ies and  satisfi ed the
gove rn ment's o b l i gations  to the FISC ;

• The i nte ractions  of Department  attorney Bru ce
Oh r with Steele ,  the  FBI, G lenn  S i m pson  of Fus ion
G PS, a nd the  State Department ;  w h ether  work
Ohr 's s pouse perfo rmed fo r Fu s ion GPS i m pl icated
eth ica l ru les a p p l icab le  to Ohr ;  and O h r's
i nteract ions  with Depa rtm ent  attorneys rega rd i n g
the M a nafort cri m i na l  case ; and

• The FBI 's use of U ndercover  Emp loyees ( U CEs)
and CHSs oth e r  tha n Steele in th e Crossfi re
H u rrica ne investigation ; whether  the FBI p laced
any CHSs with i n  the Tru m p  ca m pa ig n o r  tasked
any CHSs to re po rt on the Tru m p  ca m pa i g n ;
whether  the use o f  CHSs a n d  UCEs co m p l ied with
Depa rtment and FBI po l i cies ; and the atte nd a n ce
of a Crossfi re H u rrica ne supervisory agent at
cou nteri ntel l i g ence b ri efi ng s  g iven  to the  20 1 6
p res identi a l  ca nd i d ates and  certa i n  ca m pa i g n
advisors.

OIG Methodology 

The OIG exa m i ned m o re than one  m i l l i on  
docu m ents that  were i n  the Departme nt's and  FBI 's 
possess ion and  co n d u cted ove r  1 70 i nte rv i ews i nvolv i n g  
more t h a n  1 0 0  w itnesses . These w itn esses i n c l uded 
fo rmer  FBI D i rector  Co rney,  fo rm e r  Atto rn ey Genera l 
(AG)  Lo retta Lynch ,  fo rm e r  Deputy Attorney Genera l  
( DAG)  S a l l y  Yates, former  D A G  R o d  Rosenste i n, fo rm e r  
Act i n g  A G  a nd Act i ng  DAG and  cu rre nt F B I  Genera l  
Cou nse l  D a n a  Boente ,  fo rm e r  F B I  Dep uty D i rector 
And rew M cCa be, fo rm e r  FBI Genera l  Cou nse l  James  
Baker, a nd Depa rtment  a tto rney B ruce Ohr  and  h i s  
w ife . T h e  O I G  a l so i n te rv i ewed Ch risto p h e r  Stee le  a nd 
cu rre nt and  form e r  e m p l oyees of oth e r  U . S . 
gove rn ment agenc ies .  Two w itn esses ,  G l e n n  S i m pson 
a nd J onathan Winer  ( a  former  Department  of State 
offic i a l ) ,  d ec l i n ed o u r  req u ests for vo l u nta ry i nte rv iews,
and we were u n a b l e  to co m pe l  the ir  testi mony .

We were g iven b road  a ccess to  re leva nt 
m a ter i a ls  by the  Depa rtment  a n d  the FBI . I n  add it i o n ,  
we rev i ewed re levant  i nform at i o n  t h a t  oth e r  U . S .  
govern m ent age nci es p rov i ded  t h e  FBI i n  t h e  co u rse o f  
t h e  Crossfi re H u rr icane i n vesti g at ion . H oweve r, 
because the act iv it ies  of oth e r  agenc ies  a re o utsi d e  our  
j u r i sd i ctio n ,  we d id  not  seek to  o bta i n  records from 
them that  the FBI never  rece ived o r  revi ewed , exce pt 
fo r a l i m ited a m o u nt of State Department  reco rd s  
relat i ng t o  Stee l e ;  w e  a l so d i d  n ot s e e k  t o  assess a n y  
act ions other  agenc ies  m ay have taken . Add iti ona l ly ,  
our  rev i ew d id  n ot i ndepend entl y seek to dete rm i ne
wheth e r  co rro borati o n  ex i sted for the Stee le  e lection
re porti n g ; rather, ou r revi ew was focused on
i nformat ion  that was  ava i l a b l e  to the FBI co ncern ing
Stee le ' s  re ports pr io r  to  and  d u r i n g  the  p e n d e n cy of the
Ca rte r Page F ISA a uth o r ity .

O u r  ro l e  i n  th i s  rev i ew was not to second -g u ess 
d i scret io n a ry judg ments by Department  perso n n e l  
about  w h ether  to o p e n  a n  i n vest igat io n ,  or specific 
j u d g ment ca l ls made  d u r i n g  the cou rse of a n  
i nvesti gat i on ,  w h e re those d ecis ions  co m p l i ed w i th  o r  
were autho r ized by Depa rtm ent ru l es ,  po l i c ies, o r  
p roced u res .  We d o  n o t  cr it i c i ze  pa rti cu l a r  dec is ions 
m e re ly  beca use  we m ight have reco m m e n d ed a 
d i ffe re nt i nvest i g at ive  strateg y o r  ta ct i c  based o n  the 
facts l ea rned d u r i n g  o u r  i n vest igati o n .  The  q u est ion  we 
consid e red was not wheth e r  a part icu l a r  i nvesti gative 
dec i s i o n  was i dea l  or cou l d  have been h a n d led  m o re 
effect ive ly, but  rather  wh ether  the Departm ent and  the 
FBI com pl i ed with a p p l i cab le  l ega l  req u i rements,  
po l i c i es ,  and p rocedu res in  ta k ing  the act ions we 
rev iewed o r, a lte rnat ive ly ,  w hether  the ci rcu msta n ces 
su rrou nd i n g  the dec i s ion  i nd i ca ted that i t  was  ba sed on 
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Executive Summary 
Review of Four FISA Applications and Other Aspects of the FBI's Crossfire 
Hurricane Investigation 

inaccurate or incomplete information, or considerations 
other than the merits of the investigation. If the 
explanations we were given for a particular decision 
were consistent with legal requirements, policies, 
procedures, and not unreasonable, we did not conclude 
that the decision was based on improper considerations 
in the absence of documentary or testimonial evidence 
to the contrary. 

The Opening of Crossfire Hurricane and 
Four Related Investigations, and Early 
Investigative Steps 

The Opening of Crossfire Hurricane and Four Individual 
Cases 

As we describe in Chapter Three, the FBI 
opened Crossfire Hurricane on Ju ly 31, 2016, just days 
after its receipt of information from a Friendly Foreign 
Government (FFG) reporting that, in May 2016, during 
a meeting with the FFG, then Trump campaign foreign 
policy advisor George Papadopoulos "suggested the 
Trump team had received some kind of suggestion from 
Russia that it could assist this process with the 
anonymous release of information during the campaign 
that would be damaging to Mrs. Clinton (and President 
Obama)." The FBI Electronic Communication (EC) 
opening the Crossfire Hurricane investigation stated 
that, based on the FFG information, "this investigation 
is being opened to determine whether individual (s) 
associated with the Trump campa ign are witting of 
and/or coordinating activities with the Government of 
Russia." We did not find information in FBI or 
Department ECs, emails, or other documents, or 
through witness testimony, indicating that any 
information other than the FFG information was relied 
upon to predicate the opening of the Crossfire Hurricane 
investigation. Alt hough not mentioned in the EC, at t he 
time, FBI officials involved in opening the investigation 
had reason to believe t hat Russia may have been 
connected to the Wikileaks disclosures that occurred 
earl ier in July 2016, and were aware of information 
regarding Russia's efforts to interfere with the 2016 
U.S. elections. These officia ls, though, did not become 
aware of Steele's election reporting until weeks later 
and we therefore determined that Steele's reports 
played no role in the Crossfire Hurricane opening. 

The FBI assembled a Headquarters-based 
investigative team of special agents, analysts, and 
supervisory special agents (referred to throughout this 
report as "the Crossfire Hurricane team") who 
conducted an initial analysis of links between Trump 
campaign members and Russia. Based upon this 

ii 

analysis, the Crossfire Hurr icane team opened individual 
cases in August 2016 on four U.S. persons­
Papadopoulos, Carter Page, Paul Manafort, and Michael 
Flynn-all of whom were affiliated with the Trump 
campaign at the time the cases were opened. 

As detailed in Chapter Two, the Attorney 
General's Guidelines for Domestic Operations (AG 
Guidelines) and the FBI's Domestic Investigations 
Operations Guide (DIOG) both require that FBI 
investigations be undertaken for an "authorized 
purpose"-that is, "to detect, obtain information about, 
or prevent or protect against federal crimes or threats 
to the national security or to collect foreign 
intelligence. " Additionally, both the AG Guidelines and 
the DIOG permit the FBI to conduct an investigation, 
even if it might impact First Amendment or other 
constitut ionally protected activity, so long as there is 
some legitimate law enforcement purpose associated 
with the investigation. 

In addition to requiring an authorized purpose, 
FBI investigations must have adequate factual 
predication before being initiated. The predication 
requirement is not a legal requirement but rather a 
prudential one imposed by Department and FBI policy. 
The DIOG provides for two types of investigations, 
Preliminary Investigations and Full Investigations. A 
Preliminary I nvestigation may be opened based upon 
"any allegation or information" indicative of possible 
criminal activity or threats to the national security. A 
Full Investigation may be opened based upon an 
"articulable factual basis" that "reasonably ind icates" 
any one of three defined circumstances exists, 
including: 

An activity consti t uting a federal crime 
or a threat to the national security has 
or may have occurred, is or may be 
occurring, or wil l or may occur and the 
investigation may obtain information 
relating to the activity or the 
involvement or role of an individual, 
group, or organ ization in such activity. 

In Ful l Investigations such as Crossfire 
Hurricane, al l lawful investigat ive methods are allowed. 
In Preliminary Investigations, al l lawful investigative 
methods (including the use of CHSs and UCEs) are 
permitted except for mail opening, physical searches 
requiring a search warrant, electronic surveillance 
requiring a judicial order or warrant (Title III wiretap or 
a FISA order), or requests under Title VII of FISA. An 
investigation opened as a Preliminary Investigation may 
be converted subsequently to a Full Investigation if 
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Executive Summary 
Review of Four FISA Applications and Other Aspects of the FBI's Crossfire 
Hurricane Investigation 

information becomes available that meets the 
predication standard. As we describe in the report, all 
of the investigative actions taken by the Crossfire 
Hurricane team, from the date the case was opened on 
July 31 until October 21 (the date of the first FISA 
order) would have been permitted whether the case 
was opened as a Preliminary or Full Investigation. 

The AG Guidelines and the DIOG do not provide 
heightened predication standards for sensitive matters, 
or allegations potentially impacting constitutionally 
protected activity, such as First Amendment rights. 
Rather, the approval and notification requi rements 
contained in the AG Guidelines and the DIOG are, in 
part, intended to provide the means by which such 
concerns can be considered by senio r officials. 
However, we were concerned to find that neither the AG 
Guidelines nor the DIOG contain a provision requiring 
Department consultation before opening an 
investigation such as the one here involving the alleged 
conduct of individuals associated with a major party 
presidential campaign. 

Crossfire Hurricane was opened as a Full 
Investigation and all of the senior FBI officials who 
participated in discussions about whether to open a 
case told us the information warranted opening it. For 
example, then Counterintell igence Division (CD) 
Assistant Director (AD) E.W. "Bill" Priestap, who 
approved the case opening, told us that t he 
combination of the FFG information and the FBI 's 
ongoing cyber intrusion investigation of the July 2016 
hacks of the Democratic National Committee's (DNC) 
emails, created a counterintelligence concern that the 
FBI was "obligated" to investigate. Priestap stated that 
he considered whether the FBI should conduct 
defensive briefings for the Trump campaign but 
ultimately decided that providing such briefings created 
the r isk that "if someone on the campaign was engaged 
with the Russians, he/she would very likely change 
his/her tactics and/or otherwise seek to cover-up 
his/ her activities, thereby preventing us from finding 
the truth." We did not identify any Department or FBI 
policy that applied to this decision and therefore 
determined that the decision was a judgment call that 
Department and FBI policy leaves to the discretion of 
FBI officials. We also concluded that, under the AG 
Guidelines and the DIOG, the FBI had an authorized 
purpose when it opened Crossfire Hurricane to obtain 
information about, or protect against, a national 
security threat or federa l crime, even though the 
investigation also had the potential to impact 
constitutionally protected activity. 

iii 

Add it ionally, given the low threshold for 
predication in the AG Guidelines and the DIOG, we 
concluded that the FFG informat ion, provided by a 
government the United States Intelligence Community 
(USIC) deems trustworthy, and describing a first-hand 
account from an FFG employee of a conversation with 
Papadopoulos, was sufficient to predicate the 
investigation. This information provided the FBI with an 
articulable factual basis that, if t rue, reasonably 
indicated activity const ituting either a federal crime or a 
threat to national security, or both, may have occurred 
or may be occurring. For similar reasons, as we detail 
in Chapter Three, we concluded that the quantum of 
information articu lated by the FBI to open the individual 
investigations on Papadopou los, Page, Flynn, and 
Manafort in August 2016 was sufficient to satisfy t he 
low threshold established by the Department and the 
FBI. 

As part of our review, we also sought to 
determine whether there was evidence that political 
bias or other improper considerations affected decision 
making in Crossfire Hurricane, including the decision to 
open the investigation. We discussed the issue of 
political bias in a prior OIG report, Review of Various 
Actions in Advance of the 2016 Election, where we 
described text and instant messages between then 
Special Counsel to the Deputy Director Lisa Page and 
then Section Chief Peter Strzok, among others, that 
included statements of hosti lity toward then candidate 
Trump and statements of support for then candidate 
Hillary Clinton. In this review, we found t hat, while Lisa 
Page attended some of the discussions regard ing the 
opening of the investigat ions, she did not play a role in 
the decision to open Crossfire Hurr icane or the four 
individual cases. We further found t hat while Strzok 
was directly involved in the decisions to open Crossfire 
Hurricane and t he four individual cases, he was not the 
sole, or even the highest-level, decision maker as to 
any of those matters. As noted above, then CD AD 
Priestap, Strzok's supervisor, was the officia l who 
ultimately made the decision to open the investigation, 
and evidence reflected that t his decision by Priestap 
was reached by consensus after multiple days of 
discussions and meetings that included Strzok and 
other leadership in CD, the FBI Deputy Director, the FBI 
General Counsel, and a FBI Deputy General Counsel. 
We concluded that Priestap's exercise of discretion in 
opening the investigation was in compliance with 
Department and FBI policies, and we did not find 
documentary or testimonial evidence that political bias 
or improper motivation influenced his decision. We 
similarly found that, while the forma l documentation 
opening each of the four individua l investigations was 
approved by Strzok (as required by the DIOG), the 
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Executive Summary 
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decisions to do so were reached by a consensus among 
the Crossfire Hurricane agents and analysts who 
identified individuals associated with the Trump 
campaign who had recent ly traveled to Russia or had 
other alleged ties to Russia. Priestap was involved in 
these decisions. We did not find documentary or 
testimonial evidence that pol itical bias or improper 
motivation influenced the decisions to open the four 
individual investigations. 

Sensitive Investigative Matter Designation 

The Crossfire Hurricane investigation was 
properly designated as a "sensitive investigative 
matter," or SI M, by t he FBI because it involved the 
activities of a domestic political organization or 
individuals prominent in such an organization. The 
DIOG requires that SI Ms be reviewed in advance by the 
FBI Office of the General Counsel (OGC) and approved 
by the appropriate FBI Headquarters operational section 
chief, and that an "appropriate [National Security 
Division] official" receive notification after the case has 
been opened. 

We concluded that t he FBI satisfied the DIOG's 
approval and notification requirements for SIMs. As we 
describe in Chapter Three, t he Crossfire Hurricane 
opening was reviewed by an OGC Unit Chief and 
approved by AD Priestap (t wo levels above Section 
Chief). The team also orally briefed National Security 
Division (NSD) officials within t he fi rst few days of the 
investigations being initiated. We were concerned, 
however, that Department and FBI policies do not 
require that a senior Department official be notified 
prior to the opening of a particularly sensitive case such 
as this one, nor do they place any additional 
requirements for SIMs beyond the approval and 
notification requirements at the t ime of opening, and 
therefore we include a recommendat ion to address this 
issue. 

Early Investigative Steps and Adherence to the Least 
I ntrusive Method 

The AG Guidelines and the DIOG require that 
the "least intrusive" means or method be "considered" 
when selecting investigative techniques and, "if 
reasonable based upon the circumstances of the 
investigation, " be used to obtain information instead of 
a more int rusive method . The DIOG states that the 
degree of procedural protection the law and Department 
and FBI policy provide for t he use of a particu lar 
investigative method helps to determine its 
intrusiveness. As described in Chapter Three, 
immediately after opening the investigation, the 

iv 

Crossfire Hurricane team submitted name trace 
requests to other U.S. government agencies and a 
fore ign intelligence agency, and conducted law 
enforcement database and open source searches, to 
identify individuals associated with the Trump campaign 
in a posit ion to have received the alleged offer of 
assistance from Russia. The FBI also sent Strzok and a 
Supervisory Special Agent (SSA) abroad to interview 
the source of the information the FBI received from the 
FFG, and also searched the FBI's database of CHSs to 
identify sources who potentially could provide 
information about connections between individuals 
associated with the Trump campaign and Russia. Each 
of these steps is authorized under the DIOG and was a 
less intrusive investigative technique. 

Thereafter, the Crossfire Hurricane team used 
more intrusive techniques, including CHSs to interact 
and consensually record mult iple conversations with 
Page and Papadopoulos, both during and after the time 
they were working for the Trump campaign, as well as 
on one occasion with a high- level Trump campaign 
official who was not a subject of the investigation. We 
found that, under Department and FBI policy, although 
this CHS activity implicated First Amendment protected 
activity, the operations were permitted because their 
use was not for the sole purpose of monitoring activities 
protected by the First Amendment or t he lawful exercise 
of other rights secured by the Constitution or laws of 
the United States. Additionally, we found that under 
FBI policy, the use of a CHS to conduct consensual 
monitoring is a matter of investigative judgment that, 
absent certain circumstances, can be authorized by a 
first- line supervisor (an SSA). We determined that t he 
CHS operations conducted during Crossfire Hurricane 
received the necessary FBI approvals and that, whi le 
AD Priestap knew about and approved of all of t he 
operations, review beyond a first-level FBI supervisor 
was not required by Department or FBI policy. 

We found it concerning that Department and 
FBI policy did not require the FBI to consult with any 
Department official in advance of conducting CHS 
operations involving advisors to a major party 
candidate's presidential campaign, and we found no 
evidence that the FBI consulted with any Department 
officials before conducting these CHS operations. As we 
describe in Chapter Two, consu ltation, at a minimum, is 
required by Department and FBI policies in numerous 
other sensitive circumstances, and we include a 
recommendation to address this issue. 

Shortly after opening the Carter Page 
investigation in August 2016, the Crossfire Hurricane 
team discussed the possible use of FISA-authorized 
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electronic surveillance targeting Page, which is among 
the most sensitive and intrusive investigative 
techniques. As we describe in Chapter Five, the FBI 
ultimately did not seek a FISA order at t hat t ime 
because OGC, NSD's Office of I ntelligence (OI), or both 
determined that more informat ion was needed to 
support probable cause that Page was an agent of a 
foreign power. However, immediately after the 
Crossfire Hurricane team received Steele's election 
reporting on September 19, the team reinitiat ed their 
discussions with OI and their efforts to obtain FISA 
surveillance authority for Page, wh ich they received 
from the FISC on October 21. 

The decision to seek to use this highly intrusive 
invest igative technique was known and approved at 
multiple levels of t he Department, including by then 
DAG Yates for t he initial FISA application and fi rst 
renewal, and by t hen Acting Attorney General Boente 
and then DAG Rosenstein for the second and third 
renewals, respectively. However, as we explain later, 
the Crossfire Hurri cane team fai led to inform 
Department officials of significant information that was 
available to the team at t he time that the FISA 
applications were drafted and fi led . Much of that 
informat ion was inconsistent wit h, or undercut, the 
assertions contained in t he FISA applications that were 
used to support probable cause and, in some instances, 
resulted in inaccurate information being included in the 
applicat ions. While we do not specu late whether 
Department officials would have authorized the FBI to 
seek to use FISA authority had they been made aware 
of all releva nt information, it was clearly the 
responsibility of Crossfi re Hurricane team members to 
advise them of such critical information so that they 
could make a fu lly informed decision. 

The FBI's Relationship with Christopher 
Steele, and Its Receipt and Evaluation of 
His Election Reporting before t he First 
FISA Application 

As we describe in Cha 
former intelli ence officer 

who, in 2009, 
formed a consulting fi rm specializing in corporate 
intelligence and investigative services. In 2010, St eele 
was introduced by Ohr to an FBI agent, and for several 
years provided information to the FBI about various 
matters, such as corruption in the I nternational 
Federation of Association Football (FIFA) . St eele also 
provided the FBI agent with reporting about Russian 
oligarchs. 

V 

In 2013, t he FBI completed the paperwork 
allowing the FBI to designate Steele as a CHS. 
However, as described in Chapter Four, we found that 
the FBI and Steele held significantly differing v iews 
about the nature of their relationship. Steele's handling 
agent v iewed St ee le as a former intelligence officer 
co lleague and FBI CHS, with obligations to the FBI. 
Steele, on the other hand, told us t hat he was a 
businessperson whose firm (not Steele) had a 
contractual agreement wit h the FBI and whose 
obligat ions were t o his paying clients, not the FBI. We 
concluded that this disagreement affected the FBI's 
control over Steele during the Crossfire Hurricane 
investigation, led to divergent expectations about 
Steele's conduct in connection with his election 
reporting, and ult imately resulted in t he FBI formally 
closing Steele as a CHS in November 2016 (although, 
as discussed below, the FBI continued its relationship 
with Steele through Ohr). 

In June 2016, Steele and his consulting fi rm 
were hired by Fusion GPS, a Washington, D.C., 
investigative fi rm, to obtain information about whether 
Russia was t rying to achieve a particular outcome in the 
2016 U.S. elections, what persona l and business ties 
t hen candidate Trump had in Russia, and whet her t here 
were any t ies bet ween the Russian government and 
Trump or his campaign. Steele's work for Fusion GPS 
resulted in his producing numerous election- related 
reports, which have been referred to collectively as the 
"Steele Dossier ." Steele himself was not t he originating 
source of any of the factual information in his reporting. 
Steele instead relied on a Primary Sub-source for 
inform ation, who used his/her network of sub-sources 
to gather information that was then passed to Steele. 
With Fusion GPS's authorization, Steele directly 
provided more than a dozen of his reports to the FBI 
between July and October 2016, and several others to 
the FBI through Ohr and other third parties. The 
Crossfire Hurr icane team received the first six election 
reports on September 19, 2016-more t han two months 
after Steele first gave his handling agent two of t he six 
reports. We describe the reasons it took two months 
for t he reports to reach the team in Chapter Four. 

FBI's Efforts to Evaluate the Steele Reporting 

Steele's handling agent told us t hat when Steele 
provided him with the first election reports in July 2016 
and described his engagement with Fusion GPS, it was 
obvious to him that the request for the research was 
politica lly motivated. The supervisory intel ligence 
analyst who supervised the analytical efforts for t he 
Crossfire Hurrica ne t eam (Supervisory Intel Analyst ) 
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explained that he also was aware of the potential for 
political influences on the Steele reporting . 

The fact that the FBI believed Steele had been 
retained to conduct political opposition research did not 
require the FBI, under either DOJ or FBI policy, to 
ignore his reporting . The FBI regularly receives 
information from individuals with potentially significant 
biases and motivations, including drug t raffickers, 
convicted felons, and even terrorists. The FBI is not 
required to set aside such information; rather, FBI 
policy requires that it critica lly assess the information. 
We found that after receiving Steele's reporting, the 
Crossfire Hurricane team began those efforts in earnest. 

We determined that the FBI's decision to 
receive Steele's information for Crossfire Hurricane was 
based on multiple factors, including: ( 1 Steele's prior 
work as an intelli ence rofessional for 

; (2) 
his expertise on Russia; (3) his record as an FBI CHS; 
( 4) the assessment of Steele's handling agent that 
Steele was reliable and had provided helpful information 
to the FBI in the past; and (5) the themes of Steele's 
reporting were consistent with the FBI's knowledge at 
the time of Russian efforts to interfere in the 2016 U.S. 
elections. 

However, as we describe later, as the FBI 
obtained additional information raising significant 
questions about the reliability of the Steele election 
reporting, the FBI failed to reassess the Steele reporting 
relied upon in the FISA applications, and did not fully 
advise NSD or or officials. We also found that the FBI 
did not aggressively seek to obtain certain potentially 
important information from Steele. For example, the 
FBI did not press Steele for information about the actual 
funding source for his election reporting work. Agents 
also did not question Steele about his role in a 
September 23, 2016 Yahoo News article entitled, "U.S. 
intel officials probe ties between Trump advisor and 
Kremlin," that described efforts by U.S. intell igence to 
determine whether Carter Page had opened 
communication channels with Kremlin officials. As we 
discuss in Chapters Five and Eight, the FBI assessed in 
the Carter Page FISA applications, without any support, 
that Steele had not "d irectly provided" the information 
to Yahoo News. 

The First Application for FISA Authority 
on Carter Page 

At the request of the FBI, the Department filed 
four applications with the FISC seeking FISA authority 

vi 

targeting Carter Page : the first application on October 
21, 2016, and three renewal applications on January 
12, April 7, and June 29, 2017. A different FISC judge 
considered each application and issued the requested 
orders, collectively resulting in approximately 11 
months of FISA coverage targeting Carter Page from 
October 21, 2016, to September 22, 2017. We discuss 
the first FISA application in this section and in Chapter 
Five. 

Decision to Seek FISA Authority 

We determined that the Crossfire Hurricane 
team's receipt of Steele's election reporting on 
September 19, 2016 played a central and essential role 
in the FBI's and Department's decision to seek the FISA 
order. As noted above, when the team first sought to 
pursue a FISA order for Page in August 2016, a decision 
was made by OGC, or, or both that more information 
was needed to support a probable cause finding that 
Page was an agent of a foreign power. As a result, FBI 
OGC ceased discussions with or about a Page FISA 
order at that time. 

On September 19, 2016, the same day that the 
Crossfire Hurricane team first received Steele's election 
reporting, the team contacted FBI OGC again about 
seeking a FISA order for Page and specifically focused 
on Steele's reporting in drafting the FISA request. Two 
days later, on September 21, the FBI OGC Unit Chief 
contacted the NSD or Unit Chief to advise him that the 
FBI believed it was ready to submit a forma l FISA 
request to or relating to Page. Almost immediately 
thereafter, or assigned an attorney (or Attorney) to 
begin preparation of the application. 

Although the team also was interested in 
seeking FISA surveillance targeting Papadopoulos, the 
FBI OGC attorneys were not supportive. FBI and NSD 
officials told us that the Crossfire Hurricane team 
ultimately did not seek FISA surveillance of 
Papadopoulos, and we are aware of no information 
indicating that the team requested or seriously 
considered FISA surveillance of Manafort or Flynn. 

We did not find documentary or testimonial 
evidence that political bias or improper motivation 
influenced the FBI's decision to seek FISA authority on 
Carter Page. 

Preparation and Review Process 

As we detail in Chapter Two, the FISC Rules of 
Procedure and FBI policy required that the Carter Page 
FISA applications contain all material facts. Although 
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the FISC Rules do not define or otherwise explain what 
constitutes a "material" fact, FBI policy guidance states 
that a fact is "material" if it is relevant to the court's 
probable cause determination. Additionally, FBI policy 
mandates that the case agent ensure that all factual 
statements in a FISA application are "scrupulously 
accurate." 

On or about September 23, the 01 Attorney 
began work on the FISA application. Over the next 
several weeks, the 01 Attorney prepared and edited a 
draft application using information principally provided 
by the FBI case agent assigned to the Carter Page 
investigation at the time and, in a few instances, by an 
OGC attorney (OGC Attorney) or other Crossfire 
Hurricane team members. The drafting process 
culminated in an application that asserted that the 
Russian government was attempting to undermine and 
influence the upcoming U.S. presidential election, and 
that the FBI believed Carter Page was acting in 
conjunction with the Russians in those efforts. The 
application's statement of facts supporting probable 
cause to believe that Page was an agent of Russia was 
broken down into five main elements: 

• The efforts of Russian Intelligence Services (RIS)
to influence the upcoming U.S. presidential

election;

• The Russian government's attempted
coordination with members of the Trump
campaign, based on the FFG information
reporting the suggestion of assistance from the
Russians to someone associated with the Trump
campaign;

• Page's historical connections to Russia and RIS;

• Page's alleged coordination with the Russian
government on 2016 U.S. presidential election
activities, based on Steele's reporting; and

• Page's statements to an FBI CHS in October
2016 that that he had an "open checkbook" from

certain Russians to fund a think tank project.

In addition, the statement of facts described 
Page's denials of coordination with the Russian 
government, as reported in two news articles and 
asserted by Page in a September 25 letter to then FBI 
Director Comey. 

The application received the necessary 
Department approvals and certifications as required by 
law. As we fully describe in Chapter Five, this 
application received more attention and scrutiny than a 
typical FISA application in terms of the additional layers 

vii 

of review and number of high-level officials who read 
the application before it was signed. These officials 

included NSD's Acting Assistant Attorney General, 
NSD's Deputy Assistant Attorney General with oversight 
over 01, 01's Operations Section Chief and Deputy 
Section Chief, the DAG, Principal Associate Deputy 
Attorney General, and the Associate Deputy Attorney 
General responsible for ODAG's national security 
portfolio. However, as we explain below, the 
Department decision makers who supported and 
approved the application were not given all relevant 
information. 

Role of Steele Election Reporting in the First Application 

In support of the fourth element in the FISA 
application-Carter Page's alleged coordination with the 
Russian government on 2016 U.S. presidential election 
activities-the application relied entirely on the following 
information from Steele Reports 80, 94, 95, and 102: 

• Compromising information about Hillary Clinton
had been compiled for many years, was
controlled by the Kremlin, and had been fed by 
the Kremlin to the Trump campaign for an 
extended period of time (Report 80);

• During a July 2016 trip to Moscow, Page met
secretly with Igor Sechin, Chairman of Russian
energy conglomerate Rosneft and close associate
of Putin, to discuss future cooperation and the 
lifting of Ukraine-related sanctions against
Russia; and with Igor Divyekin, a highly-placed
Russian official, to discuss sharing with the
Trump campaign derogatory information about
Clinton (Report 94);

• Page was an intermediary between Russia and
the Trump campaign's then manager (Manafort)
in a "well-developed conspiracy" of cooperation,
which led to Russia's disclosure of hacked DNC
emails to Wikileaks in exchange for the Trump
campaign's agreement to sideline Russian
intervention in Ukraine as a campaign issue
(Report 95); and

• Russia released the DNC emails to Wikileaks in
an attempt to swing voters to Trump, an
objective conceived and promoted by Page and 
others (Report 102).

We determined that the FBI's decision to rely 
upon Steele's election reporting to help establish 
probable cause that Page was an agent of Russia was a 
judgment reached initially by the case agents on the 
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Crossfire Hurricane team. We further determined that 
FBI officials at every level concurred with this 
judgment, from the OGC attorneys assigned to the 
investigation to senior CD officials, then General 
Counsel James Baker, then Deputy Director Andrew 
McCabe, and then Director James Comey. FBI 
leadership supported relying on Steele's reporting to 
seek a FISA order on Page after being advised of, and 
giving consideration to, concerns expressed by Stuart 
Evans, then NSD's Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
with oversight responsibility over OI, that Steele may 
have been hired by someone associated with 
presidential candidate Clinton or the DNC, and that the 
foreign intelligence to be collected through the FISA 
order would probably not be worth the "risk" of being 
criticized later for collecting communications of 
someone (Carter Page) who was "politically sensitive." 
According to McCabe, the FBI "felt strongly" that the 
FISA application should move forward because the team 
believed they had to get to the bottom of what they 
considered to be a potentially serious threat to national 
security, even if the FBI would later be criticized for 
taking such action. McCabe and others discussed the 
FBI's position with NSD and ODAG officials, and these 
officials accepted the FBI's decision to move forward 
with the application, based substantially on the Steele 
information. 

We found that the FBI did not have information 
corroborating the specific allegations against Carter 
Page in Steele's reporting when it relied upon his 
reports in the first FISA application or subsequent 
renewal applications. OGC and NSD attorneys told us 
that, while the FBI's "Woods Procedures" (described in 
Chapter Two) require that every factual assertion in a 
FISA application be "verified," when information is 
attributed to a FBI CHS, the Woods Procedures require 
only that the agent verify, with supporting 
documentation, that the application accurately reflects 
what the CHS told the FBI. The procedures do not 
require that the agent corroborate, through a second, 
independent source, that what the CHS told the FBI is 
true. We did not identify anything in the Woods 
Procedures that is inconsistent with these officials' 
description of the procedures. 

However, absent corroboration for the factual 
assertions in the election reporting, it was particularly 
important for the FISA applications to articulate the 
FBI's knowledge of Steele's background and its 
assessment of his reliability. On these points, the 
applications advised the court that Steele was believed 
to be a reliable source for three reasons: his 
professional background; his history of work as an FBI 
CHS since 2013; and his prior non-election reporting, 

viii 

which the FBI described as "corroborated and used in 
criminal proceedings." As discussed below, the 
representations about Steele's prior reporting were 
overstated and had not been approved by Steele's 
handling agent, as required by the Woods Procedures. 

Due to Evans's persistent inquiries, the FISA 
application also included a footnote, developed by OI 
based on information provided by the Crossfire 
Hurricane team, to address Evans's concern about the 
potential political bias of Steele's research. The 
footnote stated that Steele was hired by an identified 
U.S. person (Glenn Simpson) to conduct research 
regarding "Candidate #l's" (Donald Trump) ties to 
Russia and that the FBI "speculates" that this U.S. 
person was likely looking for information that could be 
used to discredit the Trump campaign. 

Relevant Information Inaccurately Stated, Omitted, or 

Undocumented in the First Application 

Our review found that FBI personnel fell far 
short of the requirement in FBI policy that they ensure 
that all factual statements in a FISA application are 
"scrupulously accurate." We identified multiple 
instances in which factual assertions relied upon in the 

first FISA application were inaccurate, incomplete, or 
unsupported by appropriate documentation, based upon 
information the FBI had in its possession at the time the 
application was filed. We found that the problems we 
identified were primarily caused by the Crossfire 
Hurricane team failing to share all relevant information 
with OI and, consequently, the information was not 
considered by the Department decision makers who 
ultimately decided to support the applications. 

As more fully described in Chapter Five, based 
upon the information known to the FBI in October 2016, 
the first application contained the following seven 
significant inaccuracies and omissions: 

1. Omitted information the FBI had obtained from
another U.S. government agency detailing its
prior relationship with Page, including that Page
had been approved as an "operational contact"
for the other agency from 2008 to 2013, and
that Page had provided information to the other
agency concerning his prior contacts with certain
Russian intelligence officers, one of which
overlapped with facts asserted in the FISA
application;

2. Included a source characterization statement
asserting that Steele's prior reporting had been
"corroborated and used in criminal proceedings,"
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which overstated the significance of Steele's past 
reporting and was not approved by Steele's 
handling agent, as required by the Woods 
Procedures; 

3. Omitted information relevant to the reliability of 
Person 1, a key Steele sub-source (who was 
attributed with providing the information in 
Report 95 and some of the information in 
Reports 80 and 102 relied upon in the 
application), namely that ( 1) Steele himself told 
members of the Crossfire Hurricane team that 
Person 1 was a "boaster" and an "egoist" and 
" may engage in some embellishment" and (2) 
the FBI had opened a counterintelligence 
investigation on Person 1 a few days before the 
FISA application was fi led; 

4. Asserted that the FBI had assessed that Steele 
did not directly provide to the press information 
in the September 23 Yahoo News article based 
on the premise that Steele had told the FBI that 
he only shared his election-related research with 
the FBI and Fusion GPS, his client; t his premise 
was incorrect and contradicted by documentation 
in the Woods File-Steele had told the FBI that 
he also gave his information to the State 
Department; 

5. Omitted Papadopou los's consensually monitored 
statements to an FBI CHS in September 2016 
denying that anyone associated with the Trump 
campaign was collaborating with Russia or with 
outside groups like Wikileaks in the release of 
emails; 

6. Omitted Page 's consensually monitored 
statements to an FBI CHS in August 2016 that 
Page had " literally never met" or "said one word 
to" Paul Manafort and that Manafort had not 
responded to any of Page's emails; if true, those 
statements were in t ension with cla ims in Report 
95 that Page was participating in a conspiracy 
with Russia by acting as an intermediary for 
Manafort on behalf of the Trump campaign; and 

7. Included Page's consensually monitored 
statements to an FBI CHS in October 2016 that 
the FBI believed supported its theory that Page 
was an agent of Russia but omitted other 
statements Page made that were inconsistent 
with its theory, includ ing denying having met 
with Sechin and Divyekin, or even knowing who 
Divyekin was; if true, those statements 
contradicted the claims in Report 94 that Page 

ix 

had met secretly with Sechin and Divyekin about 
future cooperation with Russia and shared 
derogatory information about candidate Clinton. 

None of these inaccuracies and omissions were 
brought to the attention of OI before the last FISA 
application was filed in June 2017. Consequently, these 
fai lures were repeated in all three renewal applications. 
Further, as we discuss lat er, we identified 10 additional 
significant errors in the renewa l applications. 

The fa ilure to provide accurate and complete 
information to the OI Att orney concerning Page's prior 
relationship with another U.S. government agency ( item 
1 above) was particularly concerning because t he OI 
Attorney had specifically asked the case agent in late 
September 2016 whether Carter Page had a current or 
prior relationship with the other agency. In response to 
that inquiry, the case agent advised the OI At torney 
that Page's relationsh ip was "dated" (claiming it was 
when Page lived in Moscow in 2004-2007) and "outside 
scope." This representation, however, was contrary to 
information that the other agency had provided to t he 
FBI in August 2016, which stated that Page was 
approved as an " operat ional contact" of the other 
agency from 2008 to 2013 (after Page had left 
Moscow). Moreover, rather than being "outside scope, " 
Page's status with the other agency overlapped in time 
with some of the interactions between Page and known 
Russian intell igence officers that were relied upon in t he 
FISA applications to establish probable cause . Indeed, 
Page had provided information to the other agency 
about his past contacts with a Russian Intelligence 
Officer (Intelligence Officer 1), wh ich were among t he 
historical connections to Russian intelligence officers 
that the FBI relied upon in t he first FISA applicat ion 
(and subsequent renewal applications). According t o 
the information from the other agency, an employee of 
the other agency had assessed that Page "candidly 
described his contact with " Intelligence Officer 1 to the 
other agency. Thus, the FBI relied upon Page's 
contacts with Intelligence Officer 1, among others, in 
support of its probable cause statement in the FISA 
application, while fa i ling to disclose to OI or the FISC 
that (1) Page had been approved as an operat ional 
contact by the other agency during a five-year period 
that overlapped with al legat ions in the FISA application, 
(2) Page had disclosed to the other agency contacts 
that he had with I ntelligence Officer 1 and certa in other 
individuals, and (3) the other agency's employee had 
given a positive assessment of Page's candor. 

Further, we were concerned by the FBI's 
inaccurate assertion in the application that Steele's prior 
reporting had been "corroborated and used in cr iminal 
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proceedings," which we were told was primarily a 
reference to Steele's role in the FIFA corruption 
investigation. We found that the team had speculated 
that Steele's prior reporting had been corroborated and 
used in criminal proceedings without clearing the 
representation with Steele's handling agent, as required 
by the Woods Procedures. According to the handling 
agent, he would not have approved the representation 
in the application because only "some" of Steele's prior 
reporting had been corroborated-most of it had not­
and because Steele's information was never used in a 
criminal proceeding. We concluded that these failures 
created the inaccurate impression in the applications 
that at least some of Steele's past reporting had been 
deemed sufficiently reliable by prosecutors to use in 
court, and that more of his information had been 
corroborated than was actually the case. 

We found no evidence that the OI Attorney, 
NSD supervisors, ODAG officials, or Yates were made 
aware of these issues before the first application was 
submitted to the court. Although we also found no 
evidence that Comey had been made aware of these 
issues at the time he certified the application, as 
discussed in our analysis in Chapter Eleven, multiple 
factors made it difficult for us to precisely determine the 
extent of FBI leadership's knowledge as to each fact 
that was not shared with OI and not included, or 
inaccurately stated, in the FISA applications. These 
factors included, among other things, limited 
recollections, the inability to question Comey or refresh 
his recollection with relevant, classified documentation 
because of his lack of a security clearance, and the 
absence of meeting minutes that would show the 
specific details shared with Comey and McCabe during 
briefings they received, beyond the more general 
investigative updates that we know they were provided. 

FBI Activities After the First FISA 
Application and FBI Efforts to Assess 
Steele's Election Reporting 

On October 31, 2016, shortly after the first FISA 
application was signed, an article entitled "A Veteran 
Spy Has Given the FBI Information Alleging a Russian 
Operation to Cultivate Donald Trump," was published by 
Mother Jones. Steele admitted to the FBI that he was a 
source for the article, and the FBI closed him as a CHS 
for cause in November 2016. However, as we describe 
below, despite having been closed for cause, the 
Crossfire Hurricane team continued to obtain 
information from Steele through Ohr, who met with the 
FBI on 13 occasions to pass along information he had 
been provided by Steele. 

X 

In Chapter Six, we describe the events that 
followed Steele's closing as a CHS, including the FBI's 
receipt of information from several third parties who 
had acquired copies of the Steele election reports, use 
of information from the Steele reports in an interagency 
assessment of Russian interference in the U.S. 2016 
elections, and continuing efforts to learn about Steele 
and his source network and to verify information from 
the reports following Steele's closure. 

Starting in December 2016, FBI staff 
participated in an interagency effort to assess the 
Russian government's intentions and actions concerning 
the 2016 U.S. elections. We learned that whether and 
how to present Steele's reporting in the Intelligence 
Community Assessment (ICA) was a topic of significant 
discussion between the FBI and the other agencies 
participating in it. According to FBI staff, as the 
interagency editing process for the ICA progressed, the 
Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) expressed concern 
about the lack of vetting for the Steele election 
reporting and asserted it did not merit inclusion in the 
body of the report. An FBI Intel Section Chief told us 
the CIA viewed it as "internet rumor." In contrast, as 
we describe in Chapter Six, the FBI, including Comey 
and McCabe, sought to include the reporting in the ICA. 
Limited information from the Steele reporting ultimately 
was presented in an appendix to the ICA. 

FBI efforts to verify information in the Steele 
election reports, and to learn about Steele and his 
source network continued after Steele's closure as a 
CHS. In November and December 2016, FBI officials 
travelled abroad and met with persons who previously 
had professional contacts with Steele or had knowledge 
of his work. Information these FBI officials obtained 
about Steele was both positive and negative. We 
found, however, that the information about Steele was 
not placed in his FBI CHS file. 

We further learned that the FBI's Validation 
Management Unit (VMU) completed a human source 
validation review of Steele in early 2017. The VMU 
review found that Steele's past criminal reporting was 
"minimally corroborated," and included this finding in its 
report that was provided to the Crossfire Hurricane 
team. This determination by the VMU was in tension 
with the source characterization statement included in 
the initial FISA application, which represented that 
Steele's prior reporting had been "corroborated and 
used in criminal proceedings." The VMU review also did 
not identify any corroboration for Steele's election 
reporting among the information that the Crossfire 
Hurricane team had collected. However, the VMU did 
not include this finding in its written validation report 
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and therefore members of the Crossfire Hurricane team 
and FBI executives were unaware of it. 

We also found that the FBI's interviews of 
Steele, his Primary Sub-source, a second sub-source, 
and other investigative activity, revealed potentially 
serious problems with Steele's descriptions of 
information in his reports. For example, as detailed in 
Chapters Six and Eight , t he Primary Sub-source made 
st atements during his/her January 2017 FBI interview 
that were inconsistent with multiple sections of the 
Steele reports, including some that were relied upon in 
the FISA applications. Among other things, regarding 
the allegations attri buted to Person 1, the Primary Sub­
source's account of t hese communications, if true, was 
not consistent wit h and, in fact, contradicted the 
allegations of a "well-developed conspiracy" in Reports 
95 and 102 attributed to Person 1. 

We further determined t hat the Crossfire 
Hurricane team was unable to corroborate any of the 
specific substantive allegations regarding Carter Page 
contained in Steele's election reporting which the FBI 
relied on in the FISA applications. We were told by the 
Supervisory Intel Analyst t hat , as of September 2017, 
the FBI had corroborated limited information in the 
Steele election reporting, and much of that was publicly 
available information. Most relevant to the Carter Page 
FISA applications, the allegations contained in Reports 
80, 94, 95, and 102, which were relied upon in all four 
applications, remained uncorroborated and, in several 
instances, were inconsistent with information gathered 
by the Crossfire Hurricane team. 

The Three Renewal Applicat ions for 
Continued FI SA Authority on Carte r Page 

As noted above, t he FBI filed three renewal 
applications wit h t he FISC, on January 12, April 7, and 
June 29, 2017. In addition to repeat ing the seven 
significant errors contained in the first FISA application 
and outlined above, we identified 10 additional 
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significant errors in t he three renewal applications, 
based upon information known to the FBI after the first 
application and before one or more of the renewals. We 
describe the circumstances surrounding these 10 errors 
in Chapter Eight, and provide a chart list ing additional 
errors in Appendix One. As more fully described in 
Chapter Eight, the renewal applications: 

8. Omitted the fact that Steele's Primary Sub­
source, who the FBI found credible, had made 
statements in January 2017 raising significant 
questions about the reliability of allegations 
included in the FISA applications, including, for 
example, that he/she did not reca ll any 
discussion wit h Person 1 concerning Wikileaks 
and there was "nothing bad" about t he 
communications between the Kremlin and the 
Trump team, and that he/she did not report to 
Steele in July 2016 that Page had met with 
Sechin; 

9. Omitted Page's prior relationship with another 
U.S. government agency, despite being 
reminded by the other agency in June 2017, 
prior to the fil ing of the fi nal renewal 
application, about Page's past st atus with t hat 
other agency; instead of including this 
information in the f inal renewal application, the 
OGC Attorney altered an email from the other 
agency so that the email stated t hat Page was 
" not a source" for the other agency, which the 
FBI affiant relied upon in signing t he final 
renewal application; 

10. Omitted information from persons who 
previously had professional contacts wit h Steele 
or had direct knowledge of his work-related 
performance, including statements that Steele 
had no history of reporting in bad faith but 
"[d]emonstrates lack of self-awareness, poor 
judgment," "pursued people with polit ical risk 
but no intelligence value," "d idn't always 
exercise great judgment," and it was " not clear 
what he would have done to va lidate" his 
reporting; 

11. Omitted information obtained from Ohr about 
Steele and his election reporting, including that 
( 1) Steele's reporting was going to Clinton's 
presidential campaign and others, (2) Simpson 
was paying Steele to discuss his reporting with 
t he media, and (3) Steele was "desperate t hat 
Donald Trump not get elected and was 
passionate about him not being the U.S. 
President"; 
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12. Failed to update the description of Steele after 
information became known to the Crossfire 
Hurricane team, from Ohr and others, that 
provided greater clarity on t he political origins 
and connections of Steele's reporting, including 
that Simpson was hired by someone associated 
with the Democratic Party and/or the DNC; 

13. Failed to correct the assertion in the fi rst FISA 
application that the FBI did not believe that 
Steele directly provided information to the 
reporter who wrote the September 23 Yahoo 
News article, even though there was no 
information in the Woods File to support this 
claim and even after certain Crossfire Hurricane 
officials learned in 2017, before t he third 
renewal application, of an admission that Steele 
made in a court filing about his interactions with 
the news media in the late summer and early 
fall of 2016; 

14. Omitted the finding from a FBI source validation 
report that Steele was suitable for continued 
operation but that his past contributions to the 
FBI's criminal program had been " minimally 
corroborated," and instead continued to assert 
in the source characterization statement that 
Steele's prior reporting had been "corroborated 
and used in cr iminal proceedings"; 

15. Omitted Papadopoulos's statements to an FBI 
CHS in late October 2016 denying that the 
Trump campaign was involved in t he 
circumstances of the DNC email hack; 

16. Omitted Joseph Mifsud's denials to the FBI that 
he supplied Papadopoulos with the information 
Papadopoulos shared with the FFG (suggesting 
that the campaign received an offer or 
suggestion of assistance from Russia); and 

17. Omitted information indicating that Page played 
no role in the Republican platform change on 
Russia's annexation of Ukraine as alleged in the 
Report 95, which was inconsistent with a factual 
assertion relied upon to support probable cause 
in al l four FISA applications. 

Among the most serious of the 10 additional 
errors we found in the renewal applications was the 
FBI's fai lure to advise OJ or the court of the 
inconsistences, described in detail in Chapter Six, 
between Steele and his Primary Sub-source on the 
reporting relied upon in the FISA applications. Although 
the Primary Sub-source's account of these 
communications, if t rue, was not consistent with and, in 
fact, contradicted the allegations of a "well-developed 
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conspiracy" in Reports 95 and 102 attributed to Person 
1 the FBI did not share this information with 01. The 
FBI also fa iled to share other inconsistencies with OJ, 
including the Primary Sub-source's account of the 
alleged meeting between Page and Sechin in Steele's 
Report 94 and his/her descriptions of the source 
network. The fact that the Primary Sub-source's 
account contradicted key assertions attributed to 
his/her own sub-sources in Steele's Reports 94, 95, and 
102 shou ld have generated significant discussions 
between the Crossfire Hurricane team and OJ prior to 
submitting the next FISA renewal application. 
Accord ing to Evans, had OJ been made aware of the 
information, such discussions might have included the 
possibility of foregoing the renewal request altogether, 
at least unt il the FBI reconciled the differences between 
Steele's account and the Primary Sub-source's account 
to the satisfaction of 01. However, we found no 
evidence that the Crossfire Hurricane team ever 
considered whether any of the inconsistencies 
warranted reconsideration of the FBI's assessment of 
the reliability of the Steele reports or notice to OJ 
before the subsequent renewal applications were filed. 

Instead, the second and third renewal 
applications provided no substantive information 
concerning the Primary Sub-source's interview, and 
offered only a brief conclusory statement that the FBI 
met with the Primary Sub-source "[i]n an effort to 
fu rther corroborate Steele's reporting" and found the 
Primary Sub-source to be "truthful and cooperat ive." 
We believe that including this st atement, wit hout also 
informing OJ and the court that the Primary Sub­
source's account of events contradicted key assertions 
in Steele's reporting, left a misimpression that the 
Primary Sub-source had corroborated the Steele 
reporting. I ndeed, in a letter to the FISC in July 2018, 
before learn ing of t hese inconsistencies from us during 
this review, t he Department defended the reliability of 
Steele's reporting and the FISA applications by citing, in 
part, to the Primary Sub-source's interview as 
"additiona l information corroborating [Steele's] 
reporting" and noting the FBI's determinat ion that 
he/she was "truthfu l and cooperative." 

The renewal applications also continued to fail 
to include information regarding Carter Page's past 
relationship with another U.S. government agency, 
even though both OJ and members of the Crossfire 
Hurricane expressed concern about the possibility of a 
prior relationship following interviews that Page gave to 
news outlets in April and May 2017 stating that he had 
assisted other U.S. government agencies in the past. 
As we describe in Chapter Eight, in June 2017, SSA 2, 
who was to be the affiant for Renewal Application No. 3 
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and had been the affiant for the first t wo renewals, told 
us that he wanted a definitive answer to whether Page 
had ever been a source for another U.S. government 
agency before he signed the final renewal application. 
This led to interactions between the OGC Attorney 
assigned to Crossfire Hurricane and a liaison from the 
other U.S. government agency. In an email from the 
liaison to the OGC Attorney, the liaison provided written 
guidance, including that it was the liaison's recoUect_ion 
that Page had or continued to have a relat1onsh1p with 
the other agency, and directed the OGC Attorney to 
review the information that the other agency had 
provided to the FBI in August 2016. As noted above, 
that August 2016 information stated that Page did, in 
fact have a prior relationship with that other agency. 
The' next morning, immediately following a 28 minut e 
telephone call between the OGC Attorney and the OI 
Attorney, the OGC Attorney forwarded to th~ OI . 
Attorney the liaison's email (but not the original email 
from the OGC Attorney to the liaison setting out the 
questions he was asking). The OI Attorney responded 
to the OGC Attorney, "thanks I think we are good and 
no need to carry it any further." However, when the 
OGC Attorney subsequently sent the liaison's email to 
SSA 2 the OGC Attorney altered the liaison's email by 
insert{ng the words "not a source" into it, thus making it 
appear that the liaison had said that Page was "not a 
source" for the other agency. Relying upon this altered 
email, SSA 2 signed the third renewal application that 
again failed to disclose Page's past relationship with the 
other agency. Consistent with the Inspector General 
Act of 1978, following the OIG's discovery that the OGC 
Attorney had altered and sent the email to SSA 2, who 
therealter relied on it to swear out the third FISA 
application, the OIG promptly informe? the Attorney 
General and the FBI Director and provided them with 
the re levant information about the OGC Attorney's 
actions. 

None of the inaccuracies and omissions that we 
identified in the renewal applications were brought to 
the attention of OI before the applications were filed. 
As a result, similar to the first application, the 
Department officials who reviewed one or more of the 
renewal applications, including Yates, Boente, and 
Rosenstein, did not have accurate and complete 
information at the time they approved them. 

We do not speculate whether or how having 
accurate and complete information might have 
influenced the decisions of senior Department leaders 
who supported the four FISA applications, or the court, 
if they had known all of the relevant information. 
Nevertheless, it was the obligation of the FBI agents 
and supervisors who were aware of the information to 
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ensure that the FISA applications were "scrupulously 
accurate" and that OI, the Department's decision 
makers, and ultimately, the court had the opportunity 
to consider the additional information and the 
information omitted from the first application. The 
individuals involved did not meet this obligation. 

Conclusions Concerning All Four FISA 
Applications 

We concluded that the failures described above 
and in this report represent serious performance 
failures by the supervisory and non-supervisory agents 
with responsibility over the FISA applications. These 
failures prevented OI from fully performing its 
gatekeeper function and deprived the decision makers 
the opportunity to make fully informed decisions. 
Although some of the factual misstatements and 
omissions we found in this review were arguably more 
significant than others, we believe that all of them 
taken together resulted in FISA applications that made 
it appear that the information supporting probable 
cause was stronger than was actually the case. 

We identified at least 17 significant errors or 
omissions in the Carter Page FISA applications, and 
many additional errors in the Woods Procedures. These 
errors and omissions resu lted from case agents 
providing wrong or incomplete information to OI and 
failing to flag important issues for discussion. While we 
did not find documentary or testimonial evidence of 
intentional misconduct on the part of the case agents 
who assisted OI in preparing the applications, or the 
agents and supervisors who performed the Woods 
Procedures, we also did not receive satisfactory 
explanations for the errors or problems we identified. 
In most instances, the agents and supervisors told us 
that they either did not know or recall why the 
information was not shared with OI, that the failure to 
do so may have been an oversight, that they did not 
recognize at the time the relevance of the information 
to the FISA application, or that they did not believe the 
missing information to be significant. On this last point, 
we believe that case agents may have improperly 
substituted their own judgments in place of the 
judgment of OI, or in place of the court, to weigh the 
probative value of the information. Further, the failure 
to update OI on all significant case developments 
relevant to the FISA applications led us to conclude that 
the agents and supervisors did not give appropriate 
attention or treatment to the facts that cut against 
probable cause, or reassess the information supporting 
probable cause as the investigation progressed. The 
agents and SSAs also did not follow, or appear to even 
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know, the requirements in the Woods Procedures to re­
verify the factual assertions from previous applications 
that are repeated in renewal applications and verify 
source characterization statements with the CHS 
handling agent and document the verification in the 
Woods File. 

That so many basic and fundamental errors 
were made by three separate, hand-picked teams on 
one of the most sensitive FBI investigations that was 
briefed to the highest levels within t he FBI, and that FBI 
officials expected would eventually be subjected to 
close scrutiny, raised significant questions regarding the 
FBI chain of command's management and supervision 
of t he FISA process. FBI Headquarters established a 
chain of command for Crossfi re Hurricane that included 
close supervision by senior CD managers, who then 
briefed FBI leadership throughout the investigation. 
Although we do not expect managers and supervisors to 
know every fact about an investigation, or senior 
officials to know all the details of cases about which 
they are briefed, in a sensitive, high-priority matter like 
this one, it is reasonable to expect t hat they will take 
the necessary steps to ensure that they are sufficiently 
familiar with the facts and circumstances supporting 
and potentially undermining a FISA application in order 
to provide effective oversight, consistent with their level 
of supervisory responsibility. We concluded that the 
information that was known to the managers, 
supervisors, and senior officials should have resulted in 
questions being raised regarding the reliabi lity of the 
Steele reporting and the probable cause supporting the 
FISA applications, but did not. 

In our view, this was a failure of not only the 
operational team, but also of the managers and 
supervisors, including senior officials, in the chain of 
command. For these reasons, we recommend that the 
FBI review the performance of the employees who had 
responsibi lity for the preparation, Woods review, or 
approval of the FISA applications, as well as the 
managers and supervisors in the chain of command of 
the Carter Page investigation, including senior officials, 
and take any action deemed appropriate. In addition, 
given the extensive compliance fa ilures we identified in 
this review, we believe that additional OIG oversight 
work is required to assess the FBI's compliance with 
Department and FBI FISA-related pol icies that seek to 
protect the civil liberties of U.S. persons. Accordingly, 
we have today initiated an OIG audit that wil l further 
examine the FBI's compliance with t he Woods 
Procedures in FISA applications that target U.S. persons 
in both counterintelligence and counterterrorism 
investigat ions. This audit will be informed by the 
findings in this review, as well as by our prior work over 
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the past 15 years on the Department's and FBI's use of 
nationa l securi ty and surveillance authorit ies, including 
authorities under FISA, as detailed in Chapter One. 

Issues Re lating to Department Attorney 
Bruce Ohr 

In Chapter Nine, we describe the interactions 
Department attorney Bruce Ohr had with Christopher 
Steele, the FBI, Glenn Simpson (the owner of Fusion 
GPS), and the State Department during the Crossfi re 
Hurricane investigation. At the t ime of these 
interactions, which took place from about July 2016 to 
May 2017, Ohr was an Associate Deputy Attorney 
General in the Office of t he Deputy Attorney General 
(ODAG) and the Director of t he Organized Crime and 
Drug Enforcement Task Force (OCDETF). 

Ohr's Interactions with Steele, the FBI, Simpson, and 

the State Department 

Beginn ing in Ju ly 2016, at about t he same time 
that Steele was engaging with the FBI on his election 
reporting, Steele contacted Ohr, who he had known 
since at least 2007, to discuss information from Steele's 
election reports. At Steele's suggestion, Ohr also met 
in August 2016 with Simpson to discuss Steele's 
reports. At the t ime, Ohr's wife, Nellie Ohr, worked at 
Fusion GPS as an independent contractor. Ohr also met 
with Simpson in December 2016, at which time 
Simpson gave Ohr a thumb drive containing numerous 
Steele election reports that Ohr thereafter provided to 
the FBI. 

On October 18, 2016, after speaking with Steele 
that morning, Ohr met with McCabe to share Steele's 
and Simpson's information with him. Thereafter, Ohr 
met with members of the Crossfire Hurricane team 13 
times between November 21, 2016, and May 15, 2017, 
concerning his contacts with Steele and Simpson. All 
13 meetings occurred after the FBI had closed Steele as 
a CHS and, except for t he November 21 meeting, each 
meeting was initiated at Ohr's request. Ohr told us that 
he did not recall the FBI asking him to take any action 
regarding Steele or Simpson, but Ohr also stated that 
"the general instruction was to let [the FBI] 
know ... when I got information from Steele." The 
Crossfire Hurricane team memorialized each of the 
meetings with Ohr as an " interview" using an FBI FD-
302 form. Separately, in November 2016, Ohr met with 
senior State Department officia ls regarding Steele's 
election reporting. 
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Department leadership, including Ohr's 
supervisors in ODAG and the ODAG officials who 
reviewed and approved the Carter Page FISA 
applications, were unaware of Ohr's meetings with FBI 
officials, Steele, Simpson, and the State Department 
until after Congress requested information from the 
Department regarding Ohr's activities in late November 
2017. 

We did not identify a specific Department policy 
prohibiting Ohr from meeting with Steele, Simpson, or 
the State Department and providing the information he 
learned from those meetings to the FBI. However, Ohr 
was clearly cognizant of his responsibility to inform his 
supervisors of these interactions, and acknowledged to 
the OIG that the possibility that he would have been 
told by his supervisors to stop having such contact may 
have factored into his decision not to tell them about it. 

We concluded that Ohr committed 
consequential errors in judgment by ( 1) failing to advise 
his direct supervisors or the DAG that he was 
commun icating with Steele and Simpson and then 
requesting meetings with the FBI's Deputy Director and 
Crossfire Hurricane team on matters that were outside 
of his areas of responsibil ity, and (2) making himself a 
witness in the investigation by meeting with Steele and 
providing Steele's information to the FBI. As we 
describe in Chapter Eight, the late discovery of Ohr's 
meetings with the FBI prompted NSD to notify the FISC 
in July 2018, over a year after the final FISA renewal 
order was issued, of information that Ohr had provided 
to the FBI but that the FBI had failed to inform NSD and 
01 about (and therefore was not included in the FISA 
applications), including that Steele was " desperate that 
Donald Trump not get elected and was passionate about 
him not being the U.S. President." 

FBI Compliance with Policies 

The FBI's CHS Policy Guide (CHSPG) provides 
guidance to agents concerning contacts with CHSs after 
they have been closed for cause, as was the case with 
Steele as of November 2016. According to the CHSPG, 
a handling agent must not initiate contact with or 
respond to contacts from a former CHS who has been 
closed for cause absent exceptional circumstances that 
are approved by an SSA. The CHSPG also requires 
reopening of the CHS if the relationship between the 
FBI and a closed CHS is expected to continue beyond 
the initial contact or debriefing. Reopening requires 
high levels of supervisory approval, including a finding 
that the benefits of reopening the CHS outweigh the 
risks. 
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We found that, while the Crossfire Hurricane 
team did not initiate direct contact with Steele after his 
closure, it responded to numerous contacts made by 
Steele through Ohr. Ohr himself was not a direct 
witness in the Crossfire Hurricane investigation; rather, 
his purpose in communicating with the FBI was to pass 
along information from Steele. While the FBI's CHS 
policy does not explicitly address indirect contact 
between an FBI agent and a closed CHS, we concluded 
that the repeated contacts with Steele should have 
triggered the CHS policy requiring that such contacts 
occur only after an SSA determines that exceptional 
circumstances exist. While an SSA was present for t he 
meetings with Ohr, we found no evidence that the SSAs 
made considered judgments that exceptional 
circumstances existed for the repeated contacts. We 
also found that, given that there were 13 different 
meetings with Ohr over a period of months, the use of 
Ohr as a conduit between the FBI and Steele created a 
relationship by proxy that should have triggered, 
pursuant to FBI policy, a supervisory decision about 
whether to reopen Steele as a CHS or discontinue 
accepting information indirectly from him through Ohr. 

Ethics Issues Raised by Nellie Ohr's Former Employment 
with Fusion GPS 

Fusion GPS employed Nellie Ohr as an 
independent contractor from October 2015 to 
September 2016. On his annua l financial disclosure 
forms covering calendar years 2015 and 2016, Ohr 
listed Nellie Ohr as an "independent contractor" and 
reported her income from that work on the form. We 
determined that financial disclosure ru les, 5 C.F.R. Part 
2634, did not require Ohr to list on the form the specific 
organizations, such as Fusion GPS, that paid Nellie Ohr 
as an independent contractor during the reporting 
period. 

In addition, for reasons we explain in Chapter 
Eleven, we concluded that the federal ethics rules did 
not require Ohr to obtain Department ethics counsel 
approval before engaging with the FBI in connection 
with the Crossfire Hurricane matter because of Nellie 
Ohr's prior work for Fusion GPS. However, we found 
that, given the factual circumstances that existed, and 
the appearance that they created, Ohr displayed a lapse 
in judgment by not ava iling himself of the process 
described in the ethics rules to consult with the 
Department ethics official about his involvement in the 
investigation. 

Meetings Involving Ohr, CRM officials, and the FBI 
Regarding the MLARS Investigation 
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Ohr's supervisors in ODAG also were unaware 
that Ohr, shortly after the U.S. elections in November 
2016, and again in early 2017, participated in 
discussions about a money laundering investigation of 
Manafort that was then being led by prosecutors from 
the Money Laundering and Asset Recovery Section 
(MLARS), which is located in the Crim ina l Division 
(CRM) at t he Department's headquarters. 

As described in more detail in Chapter Nine, in 
November 2016, Ohr told CRM Deputy Assistant 
Attorney General Bruce Swartz and Counsel to t he CRM 
Assistant Attorney General Zainab Ahmad about 
information he was getting from Steele and Simpson 
about Manafort. Between November 16, 2016 and 
December 15, 2016, Ohr participated in several 
meetings that were attended, at various times, by some 
or all of the following individuals: Swartz, Ahmad, 
Andrew Weissmann (then Section Chief of CRM's Fraud 
Section), Strzok, and Lisa Page. The meetings involving 
Ohr, Swartz, Ahmad, and Weissmann focused on t heir 
shared concern that MLARS was not moving quickly 
enough on the Manafort criminal investigation and 
whether there were steps they could take to move the 
investigation forward. The meetings with Strzok and 
Page focused primarily on whether the FBI could assess 
the case's relevance, if any, t o the FBI 's Russian 
interference investigation. MLARS was not represented 
at any of these meetings or told about them, and none 
of attendees had supervisory responsibility over the 
MLARS investigation. 

There were no meetings about the Manafort 
case involving Ohr, Swartz, Ahmad, and Weissmann 
from December 16, 20 16 to January 30, 2017. On 
January 31, 2017, one day after Yates was removed as 
DAG, Ahmad, by t hen an Acting CRM Deputy Assistant 
Attorney General, after consulting with Swartz and 
Weissmann, sent an email to Lisa Page, copying 
Weissmann, Swartz, and Ohr, requesting a meeting the 
next day to discuss "a few Criminal Division re lated 
developments." The next day, February 1, Swartz, Ohr, 
Ahmad, and Weissmann met with Strzok, Lisa Page, 
and an FBI Acting Section Chief. None of the attendees 
at the meeting could explain to us what the "Criminal 
Division related developments" were, and we did not 
find any. Meeting notes reflect, among other things, 
that the group discussed the Manafort criminal 
investigation and efforts that the Department cou ld 
undertake to investigate attempts by Russia to 
influence the 2016 elections. MLARS was not 
represented at, or told about, the meeting. 

We are not aware of information indicating that 
any of the discussions involving Ohr, Swartz, 
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Weissmann, Ahmad, Strzok, and Lisa Page resulted in 
any actions taken or not taken in the MLARS 
investigation, and ultimately the investigation remained 
with MLARS until it was transfe rred to the Office of the 
Special Counsel in May 2017. We also did not identify 
any Department policies prohibiting interna l discussions 
about a pending investigation among officials not 
assigned to t he matter, or between those officia ls and 
senior officials from the FBI. However, as described in 
Chapter Nine, we were told that there was a decision 
not to inform the leadership of CRM, both before and 
after t he change in presidential administrations, of 
these discussions in order to insu late the MLARS 
investigation from becoming "politicized." We 
concluded that this decision, made in the absence of 
concerns of potential wrongdo ing or misconduct, and for 
the purpose of avoiding the appearance that an 
investigation is "politicized," fundamental ly 
misconstrued who is ultimately responsible and 
accountable for the Department's work. We agree with 
the concerns expressed to us by then DAG Yates and 
then CRM Assistant Attorney General Leslie Caldwell. 
Department leaders cannot fulfill their management 
responsibilities, and be held accountable for the 
Department's actions, if subordinates intentionally 
withhold information from them in such circumstances. 

The Use of Confidential Sources (Other 
Than Steele) and Undercover Employees 

As discussed in Chapter Ten, we determined 
that, during the 20 16 presidential campaign, the 
Crossfire Hurricane team tasked several CHSs, which 
resu lted in mult iple interactions with Carter Page and 
George Papadopoulos, both during and after the time 
they were affiliated with t he Trump campaign, and one 
with a high-level Trump campaign official who was not a 
subject of the investigation. All of these CHS 
interactions were consensually monitored and recorded 
by the FBI. As noted above, under Department and FBI 
policy, the use of a CHS to conduct consensual 
monitoring is a matter of investigative judgment that, 
absent certain circumstances, can be authorized by a 
first- line supervisor (a supervisory special agent). We 
determined that the CHS operations conducted during 
Crossfire Hurricane received the necessary FBI 
approvals, and that AD Priestap knew about, and 
approved of, all of the Crossfire Hurricane CHS 
operations, even in ci rcumstances where a first-level 
supervisory special agent could have approved the 
operations. We found no evidence that the FBI used 
CHSs or UCEs to interact with members of the Trump 
campaign prior to the opening of the Crossfire Hurr icane 
investigation. After the opening of the investigation, we 
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found no evidence that the FBI placed any CHSs or 
UCEs within the Trump campaign or tasked any CHSs or 
UCEs to report on the Trump campaign . Finally, we 
also found no documentary or testimonial evidence that 
political bias or improper motivations influenced the 
FBI's decision to use CHSs or UCEs to interact with 
Trump campaign officials in the Crossfire Hurricane 
investigation. 

Although the Crossfire Hurricane team's use of 
CHSs and UCEs complied with applicable policies, we 
are concerned that, under these policies, it was 
sufficient for a first- level FBI supervisor to authorize the 
domestic CHS operations that were undertaken in 
Crossfire Hurricane, and that there was no applicable 
Department or FBI policy requir ing the FBI to noti fy 
Department officials of the investigative team's decision 
to task CHSs to consensually monitor conversations 
with members of a presidential campaign. We found no 
evidence that the FBI consulted with any Department 
officials before conducting these CHS operations. We 
believe that current Department and FBI policies are 
not sufficient to ensure appropriate oversight and 
accountability when such operations potentially 
implicate sensitive, constitutionally protected activity, 
and that they should require, at m inimum, Department 
consultation. As noted above, we include a 
recommendation in th is report to address this issue. 

Consistent with current Department and FBI 
policy, we learned that decisions about the use of CHSs 
and UCEs were made by the case agents and the 
supervisory special agents assigned to Crossfire 
Hurricane. These agents told the OIG that they focused 
the CHS operations on the FFG information and the four 
investigative subjects, and that they viewed CHS 
operations as one of the best methods available to 
quickly obtain information about the predicating 
allegations, while preventing information about the 
nature and existence of the investigation from 
becoming public, and potentially impacting the 
presidential election. 

During the meeting between a CHS and the 
high-level Trump campaign official who was not a 
subject of the investigation, the CHS asked about the 
role of three Crossfire Hurricane subjects-Page, 
Papadopoulos, and Manafort-in the Trump campaign. 
The CHS also asked about allegations in public reports 
concerning Russian interference in the 2016 elections, 
the campaign's response to ideas featured in Page's 
Moscow speech, and the possibility of an "October 
Surprise." I n response, the campaign official made no 
comments of not e about those topics. The CHS and the 
high-level campaign official also discussed 
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We 
found that t he Crossfire Hurricane team made no use of 
any information collected from t he high-level Trump 
campaign officia l, because the t eam determ ined that 
none of t he information gathered was "germane" to the 
al legations under investigation. However, we were 
concerned that the Crossfire Hurr icane team did not 
recall having in place a plan, prior to the operation 
involving the high-level campaign official, to address 
the possible collection of politically sensitive 
information. 

As discussed in Chapter Ten, through the use of 
CHSs, the investigative t eam obta ined statements from 
Carter Page and Papadopoulos that raised questions 
about the validity of allegations under investigation. 
For example, when questioned in August 2016 about 
other individuals who were subjects in the investigation, 
Page told a CHS that he had "literally never met" or 
"said one word to" Manafort and that Manafort had not 
responded to any of Page's emails. As another 
example, Papadopoulos denied to a CHS that anyone 
associated wi th the Trump campaign was collaborating 
with Russia or with outside groups like Wikileaks in the 
release of emails. Papadopoulos stated that the 
"campaign, of course, [does not] advocate for this type 
of activity because at the end of the day it's ... illegal " 
and that "our campaign is not...engag[ing] or reaching 
out to Wikileaks or to the whoever it is to tell them 
please work with us, collaborate because we don't, no 
one does that...." Papadopoulos also said that "as far as 
I understand ... no one's collaborating, there's been no 
collusion and it's going to remain that way." In another 
interaction, Papadopoulos told a CHS that he knew "for 
a fact" that no one from the Trump campaign had 
anything to do with releasing emails from the DNC, as a 
result of Papadopoulos's involvement in t he Trump 
campaign. Despite the re levance of this materia l, as 
described in Chapters Five and Seven, none of 
Papadopoulos's statements were provided by the 
Crossfire Hurricane team to the OI Attorney and Page's 
statements were not provided to the OI attorney until 
June 2017, approximately ten months a~er the init ial 
Carter Page FISA application was granted by the FISC. 

Through our review, we also determined that 
there were other CHSs tasked by t he FBI to attempt to 
contact Papadopoulos, but that t hose attempted 
contacts did not lead to any operational activity. We 
also identified several individua ls who had either a 
connection to candidate Trump or a role in the Trump 
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campaign, and were also FBI CHSs, but who were not 
tasked as part of the Crossfire Hurricane investigation. 
One such CHS did provide the Crossfire Hurricane team 
with general information about Crossfire Hurricane 
subjects Page and Manafort, but we found that this CHS 
had no further involvement in the investigation. 

We identified another CHS that the Crossfire 
Hurricane team first learned about in 2017, after the 
CHS voluntaril rovided his/her handlin a ent with an 

-and the hand ling 
agent forwarded the material, through his supervisor 
and FBI Head uarters to the Crossfire Hurricane team. 

The handling agent told us that, 
when he subsequently informed the Crossfire Hurricane 
team that the CHS had access to 

, a Crossfire Hurricane team 
intelligence analyst asked the handling agent to collect 

• from the CHS, which the handling agent did. 
We found that the Crossfire Hurricane team determined 
that there was not "anything significant" in this -
collection, and did not seek to task the CHS. While we 
found that no action was taken by the Crossfire 
Hurricane team in response to receiving 
we nevertheless were concerned to learn that the 
handling agent for the CHS placed 

• • into the FBI's files, and we 
promptly notified the FBI upon learning that they were 
still being maintained in the FBI's files. We further 
concluded that, because the CHS's handling agent did 
not understand the CHS's polit ical involvement, no 
assessment was performed by the source's handling 
agent or his supervisors (none of whom were members 
of t he Crossfire Hurricane team) to determine whether 
the CHS required re-designation as a "sensitive source" 
or should have been closed during the pendency of the 
campaign. 

While we concluded that the investigative 
activities undertaken by the Crossfire Hurricane team 
involving CHSs and UCEs complied with applicable 
Department and FBI policies, we believe that in certain 
circumstances Department and FBI policies do not 
provide sufficient oversight and accountability for 
investigative activities that have the potential to gather 
sensitive information involving protected First 
Amendment activity, and therefore include 
recommendations to address these issues. 

Finally, as we also describe in Chapter Ten, we 
learned during the course of our review that in August 
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2016, the supervisor of the Crossfire Hurricane 
investigation, SSA 1, participated on behalf of t he FBI in 
a strategic intelligence briefing given by Office of the 
Director of National Intelligence (ODNI) to candidate 
Trump and his national security advisors, including 
Michael Flynn, and in a separate strategic intelligence 
briefing given to candidate Clinton and her national 
security advisors. The stated purpose of the FBI portion 
of the briefing was to provide the recipients "a baseline 
on the presence and threat posed by foreign intelligence 
services to the National Security of the U.S." However, 
we found that SSA 1 was selected to provide the FBI 
briefings, in part, because Flynn, who was a subject in 
the ongoing Crossfire Hurricane investigation, would be 
attending the Trump campaign briefing. 

Following his participation in the briefing of 
candidate Trump, Flynn, and another Trump advisor, 
SSA 1 drafted an EC documenting his participation in 
the briefing, and added the EC to the Crossfire 
Hurricane investigative file. We were told that the 
decision to select SSA 1 to participate in the ODNI 
briefing was reached by consensus among a group of 
senior FBI officials, including McCabe and Baker. We 
noted that no one at the Department or ODNI was 
informed that the FBI was using the ODNI briefing of a 
presidential candidate for investigative purposes, and 
found no applicable FBI or Department policies 
addressing this issue. We concluded that the FBI's use 
of this briefing for investigative reasons could 
potentially interfere with the expectation of trust and 
good faith among participants in strateg ic intelligence 
briefings, thereby frustrating their purpose. We 
therefore include a recommendation to address this 
issue. 

Recommendations 

Our report makes nine recommendations to the 
FBI and the Department to assist them in addressing 
the issues that we identified in this review: 

• The Department and the FBI should ensure that 
adequate procedures are in place for OI to obtain 
all relevant and accurate information needed to 
prepare FISA applications and renewal 
applications, including CHS information. In 
Chapter Twelve, we identify a few specific steps 
to assist in this effort. 
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• The Department and FBI should eva luate which 
types of SIMs require advance notification to a 
senior Department official, such as the DAG, in 
addition to the notifications currently required for 
SIMs, especially for case openings that implicate 
core First Amendment activity and raise policy 
considerations or heighten enterprise risk, and 
establish implementing policies and guidance, as 
necessary. 

• The FBI should develop protocols and guidelines 
for staffing and administrating any futu re 
sensitive investigative matters from FBI 
Headquarters. 

• The FBI should address the problems with the 
administration and assessment of CHSs identified 
in this report, including, at a minimum, revising 
the FBI's standard CHS admonishments, 
improving the documentation of CHS 
information, revising FBI policy to address the 
acceptance of information from a closed CHS 
indirectly through a third party, and taking other 
st eps we identify in Chapter Twelve. 

• The Department and FBI should clarify the terms 
(1) "sensitive monitoring circumstance" in the 
AG Guidelines and the DIOG to determi ne 
whether to expand its scope to include 
consensua l monitoring of a domestic politica l 
candidate or an individual prominent within a 
domestic political organization, or a subset of 
t hese persons, so that consensual monitoring of 
such individuals wou ld require consultation with 
or advance notification to a senior Department 
official, such as the DAG, and (2) "prominent in a 
domestic polit ical organization" so that agents 
understand which campaign officials fall within 
that definition as it relates to "sensitive 
investigative matters," "sensitive UDP," the 
designation of "sensitive sources," and "sensitive 
monitoring circumstance." 

• The FBI should ensure that appropriate training 
on DIOG § 4 is provided to emphasize the 
constitutional impl ications of certain monitoring 
situations and to ensure that agent s account for 
these concerns, both in the tasking of CHSs and 
in the way they document interactions with and 
tasking of CHSs. 
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• The FBI should establish a policy regarding the 
use of defensive and transition briefings for 
investigative purposes, including the factors to 
be considered and approval by senior leaders at 
the FBI with notice to a senior Department 
official, such as the DAG. 

• The Department's Office of Professional 
Responsibility shou ld review our findings re lated 
to t he conduct of Department attorney Bruce Ohr 
for any action it deems appropriate. Ohr's 
current supervisors in CRM should also review 
our findings related to Ohr's performance for any 
action they deem appropriate. 

• The FBI should review the performance of al l 
employees who had responsibility for t he 
preparation, Woods review, or approval of the 
FISA applications, as well as the managers, 
supervisors, and senior officia ls in the chain of 
command of the Carter Page investigation for 
any action it deems appropriate. 
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